CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES, INC. and WESTINGHOUSE ELECTRIC CORPORATION,

Petitioners,

vs.

1

PLAYA DEL MAR ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

510 J. K. . . . MAR 24 1988 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By, Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JOHN R. HARGROVE, ESQ.

FINLEY, KUMBLE, WAGNER, HEINE, UNDERBERG, MANLEY, MYERSON & CASEY Attorneys for Petitioners One Corporate Plaza, 18th Floor 110 East Broward Blvd. Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone: (305) 527-2800

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This brief jurisdiction is filed on behalf of on petitioners CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES, INC. and WESTINGHOUSE ELECTRIC CORPORATION. They seek discretionary review in this Court of the December 31, 1985, decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, in Playa Del Mar Association v. Florida Power & Light Company, et al., Cases Nos. 85-242 and 85-741, on the basis that the decision "expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. . . " Fla. <u>Const</u>. art. V, §3(b)(3) (as amended in 1980) and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla.R.App.P. Petitioners seek by this brief to demonstrate that discretionary review should be granted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In December of 1979, PLAYA DEL MAR ASSOCIATION sued CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES and WESTINGHOUSE for the defective construction of the PLAYA DEL MAR CONDOMINIUM. The complaint was a multiple count accusation of defective construction, some of which was described as <u>latent</u>. Not only were existing and known problems included in the prior suit, but PLAYA DEL MAR went on to allege in its complaint that the defects

> . . .are not readily recognizable by persons who lack special knowledge or training, or they are hidden by building components or finishes and they are latent defects and deficiencies to the unit owners. . .

To resolve the case, the parties negotiated and entered into a settlement agreement in February of 1982. It provided for settlement of

> . . .all matters in all causes of action arising out of the allegations set forth in said law suit, <u>as well as all causes of</u> <u>action arising out of the construction</u> and the sale of the Playa Del Mar by Coral Ridge. . . (emphasis added)

Thus, PLAYA DEL MAR gave up all its rights regarding construction defects -- not just those matters alleged in the first suit. The agreement further provided for a general release to be signed, which was to include language releasing CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES and WESTINGHOUSE from

. . .all past, present <u>and future</u> claims, demands and causes of action arising from alleged defective construction on Playa Del Mar. . . (emphasis added)

•

,

After the releases were signed, but before the action was dismissed, however, PLAYA DEL MAR filed another suit for damages due to defective construction which allegedly caused a fire to break out in the building. CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES and WESTINGHOUSE did not answer, but instead moved for summary judgment, which was entered on the basis that everything was released in the first case.

On appeal to the Fourth District, PLAYA DEL MAR claimed that it did not intend to release "unknown" or "latent" defects under the general release and settlement agreement. The Fourth District agreed and reversed on the basis that it was error to enter a summary final judgment based upon a signed "release" where no answer was filed raising that point as an affirmative defense.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because of the Fourth District's decision, there is now conflict among the districts as to whether or not a defending party can move for summary judgment before he answers. The specifically contemplates summary judgment rule that а defending party need not first answer since a trial court's ruling must be based upon the strength or weaknesses of the supporting and opposing evidence (all of which was before the trial court), and an answer would have had absolutely no bearing upon anything. The Fourth District nevertheless held that an answer should have been filed. This, of course, creates conflicting precedent among the districts involving a key procedural rule which should be resolved by this Court.

The decision of the Fourth District creates further conflict on the question of whether the mere assertion of "mistake" in the execution of a release would automatically give a party opposing summary judgment the right to introduce evidence to attack an otherwise unambiguous release. If that is what is meant, then the Fourth District has overlooked a cardinal rule of construction, as well as the practical effect that the ruling will have in future cases. More specifically, the Fourth District is saying that extrinsic evidence should be admissible to explain the claim of "mistake" in the execution and meaning of a clear document. The law of Florida simply Because of the Fourth District's does not permit this.

decision, however, no release can be safely accepted as the last step in resolving a litigation issue because all a party need do now is claim that he really did not understand the future consequences of his signing. And in a case like this he would predictably say that "all claims arising out of construction" did not contemplate matters which he did not anticipate. The holding is contrary to the decisions of this state and the policy of the law favoring amicable settlements.

ARGUMENT

I.

As a jurisdictional predicate, it should be noted that in Ford Motor Company v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981), this Court defined the scope of its conflict jurisdiction to resolve a decision of a district court of appeal that "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law." Art. V., §3(b)(3), <u>Fla</u>. <u>Const</u>. In so doing, it rejected a standard requiring a district court of appeal to "explicitly identify conflicting district court or Supreme Court decisions in its opinion in order to create an express conflict under §3(b)(3)." 401 So. 2d at 1342. Instead, the Court held that legal principles <u>discussed</u> by the appellate court in rendering its decision "supplies a sufficient basis for a petition fr conflict review." (emphasis added) <u>Id</u>. at 1342. This is exactly the situation in this case.

While the opinion of the Fourth District is admirably short and concise, its wording nevertheless creates a conflict among the district courts of appeal of this state regarding the time for filing a motion for summary judgment. The Fourth District held essentially that defenses which would normally be called "affirmative" defenses must first be raised by way of an answer if a defending party wishes to use that defense as a basis for summary judgment.

Rule 1.510 of the <u>Florida Rules of Civil Procedure</u> already contemplates the filing of a motion for summary judgment before a defendant has answered. Subsection (b) of the rule states:

A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim or third party claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought may move for summary judgment in his favor as to all or any part thereof <u>at any time</u> with or without supporting affidavits. (Emphasis added).

The decision is not only inconsistent with the rule itself, but it creates conflict with <u>Edgewater Drugs, Inc. v. Jax</u> <u>Drugs, Inc.</u>, 138 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962), holding that a defending party may make the motion at any time, <u>setting out</u> <u>defenses by affidavit</u>, and thus effect a speedy termination of the action. 30A <u>West's Florida Statutes Annot.</u>, Rule 1.510 <u>Fla. R. Civ. P.</u> at 388; <u>see also</u>, 49 <u>Fla. Jur</u>. 2d Summary Judgment §25 at 431-32.

The summary judgment rule itself permits what was done by CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES and WESTINGHOUSE because the rule clearly says that a defending party can move for summary judgment <u>at any time</u>. Rule 1.510(b), <u>Fla. R. Civ. P</u>. As a result of the Fourth District's decision, however, there is now conflict between and among the districts which hopefully the Supreme Court -- as the rule- making body -- will address.^{1/}

^{1/} While not forming the basis of conflict jurisdiction, it should nevertheless be noted that there is an internal lack of uniformity within the Fourth District between this case and <u>Gutterman - Musicant - Kreitzman, Inc., v. IG Realty Company</u>, 436 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). <u>Gutterman</u>, holds that <u>either party -- plaintiff or defendant -- can move for summary judgment before an answer is filed so long as there is a proper record before the court. In this case, PLAYA DEL MAR filed of record all of its opposing affidavits and interrogatory answers to avoid summary judgment. In other words, the trial record was full of "evidence" supporting PLAYA DEL MAR's position.</u>

The assertion of "mistake" to unexpected mere as consequences of the settled construction defects case should not give PLAYA DEL MAR the right to introduce evidence in the new case to contradict the terms of the earlier release. As authority for its position that evidence should have been considered by the trial court in support of the "mistake" claim, however, the Fourth District relies upon its own decision in Ayr v. Chance, 372 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). That ruling would make sense if this case were anything like Ayr v. Chance because there a release was being asserted as a defense by defendants who were not even parties to the And this fact was obvious from the face of the release. release. That is why the Fourth District properly could hold in <u>Ayr v. Chance</u> that summary judgment entered in favor of those unnamed defendants was wrong. They were simply trying to get out of a case based upon a defense which did not even apply To let the decision in this case stand, however, to them. a serious conflict with DeWitt v. Miami Transit creates Company, 95 So. 2d 898 (Fla. 1957), because DeWitt held that the effectiveness of a release cannot be challenged factually or legally based upon allegations of "mistake" as to unexpected consequences of a known situation. In <u>DeWitt</u>, this Court said:

> While a release executed pursuant to a mistake as to a past or present fact may on proper showing be set aside, unknown or unexpected consequences of known injuries will not result in invalidating the release. An erroneous opinion or error of judgment respecting future conditions as a

> > 8

II.

result of presently known facts will not justify setting the release aside. If the rule were otherwise no release could be safely accepted. . The end result would be that all such claims would be forced into litigation. Such a conclusion would be directly contrary to the policy of the law favoring amicable settlement of disputes and the avoidance of litigation.

[<u>Id</u>. at 901.]

The settlement agreement entered into in the first PLAYA DEL MAR case provided for settlement of <u>all</u> matters arising out of the construction and sale of the building, including the "latent" defects mentioned in the complaint. The release then included language releasing CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES and WESTINGHOUSE from <u>all</u> past, present and <u>future</u> claims arising out of defective construction. In other words, everything was considered and everything was released. Nothing was excluded. The Fourth District has nevertheless permitted the release to the subject of "interpretation" based upon a claim of be "mistake".^{2/} This is in direct conflict with <u>Ross v. Savage</u>, 66 Fla. 106, 62 So. 148 (1913), the watershed decision of this Court excluding extrinsic evidence from the interpretation of a writing, and J.M. Montgomery Roofing Company, Inc. v. Fred Holland, Inc., 98 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 1957), holding that where the terms and conditions of an unambiguous writing are clear, neither party is entitled to allege or prove by extrinsic evidence any facts which would vary or contradict its terms. CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES and WESTINGHOUSE would urge this Court to resolve the conflict.

 $[\]underline{2}$ / Interestingly enough, this was <u>not</u> a reformation case it was a damage case for construction defects -- just like the first suit.

CONCLUSION

in this case for two Jurisdiction should be accepted First, there is now conflict among the essential reasons. district courts as to whether a defending party may move for summary judgment without first answering the complaint. Second, there is conflict among the district courts and the Supreme Court as to whether a party can avoid the effect of summary judgment regarding an unambiguous release simply by claiming "mistake". CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES and WESTINGHOUSE are therefore requesting that this Court review the Fourth District's decision, take jurisdiction and let CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES and WESTINGHOUSE convince the Court that its position is correct.