### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### CASE NO. 68,471

CORAL RIDGE PROPERTIES, INC. and WESTINGHOUSE ELECTRIC CORPORATION,

Petitioners,

vs.

PLAYA DEL MAR ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

Part Corran

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JOHN J. PAPPAS, ESQUIRE BUTLER, BURNETTE AND FREEMON Attorneys for Respondent One Mack Center - Suite 1100 501 East Kennedy Boulevard Tampa, Florida 33602-4985 813/223-9300

#

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Lower Court erroneously granted summary judgment in favor of the Petitioner on the issues of release and <u>res</u> <u>judicata</u>, both of which are affirmative defenses that the Petitioner failed to plead as required by Rule 1.110(d) of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Petitioner would have this Court believe that Respondent's Complaint raised these issues of release and <u>res judicata</u> and, therefore, summary judgment is procedurally allowable before an answer is filed. Respondent did not raise the issues of release and <u>res judicata</u>. These were not issues in the record as framed by the pleadings.

There is absolutely no conflict within the Fourth District Court of Appeal or between the five Florida District Courts of Appeal. The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and the decisions of the Appellate Courts of this State all hold that summary judgment cannot be granted upon affirmative defenses not at issue. At least one logical reason for such a rule is to allow the trial court to define the proper scope of discovery, which the trial court in this case failed to do because the defenses of release and <u>res judicata</u> were not framed as issues by the pleadings.

#### ARGUMENT

Petitioners cite Rule 1.510 of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and underlines the phrase "at any time." Nevertheless, what actually should be highlighted is the phrase "any part thereof" which refers to "a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim or third party claim" or Complaint for Declaratory Judgment brought against that party. Rule 1.510 does not envision summary judgment upon affirmative defenses not pleaded.

Nevertheless, Petitioners state:

[This] decision is not only inconsistent with the rule itself, but it creates conflict with Edgewater Drugs, Inc. v. Jax Drugs, Inc., 138 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962), holding that a defending party may make the motion at any time, setting out defenses by affidavit, and thus effect a speedy termination of the action.

This is a blatant untruth! Edgewater Drugs, Inc. held that a plaintiff can move for summary judgment upon the issues raised in its complaint before the defendant files an answer after twenty (20) days from commencement of the action. The affidavits referred to by Petitioners were not interpreted by the First District Court of Appeal as "setting out defenses" but rather were interpreted as admissions by the defendant against its interests. The Edgewater Drugs, Inc. Court stated:

On the other hand, no where in the record or briefs in this Appeal do we find even an indi-

cation that the Defendant-Appellant has any real defense on the merits of this action. In fact, its president in his affidavit admits that that corporation purchased from the Plaintiff the goods involved in this action.

<u>Id</u>. at 529.

Moreover, the issue in <u>Edgewater Drugs</u>, <u>Inc.</u> was not one concerning an affirmative defense but rather that of improper venue and failure to state a cause of action which according to the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure may be raised by motion as stated in Rule 1.140(b) of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals holding, in this case, that "it was error to enter judgment based upon 'release' when that affirmative defense had never been asserted in a pleading," is the law of this Court and the State of Florida. There is no Florida appellate decision to the contrary!

No doubt one of the reasons why this is the law is so the parties may know what discovery to conduct and the trial court can determine the legitimate scope of that discovery. The Respondent was denied any discovery (specifically conducting the depositions of those who drafted the release relied upon by Petitioners) relevant to the Petitioners' unpleaded affirmative defense of release and res judicata!

Essentially the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Petitioners on the basis of a release that was never pleaded as an affirmative defense and upon which the trial court refused to allow the Respondent to conduct discovery.

If release and <u>res judicata</u> were valid defenses, why were they not pleaded and Respondent allowed discovery upon these defenses? If the Lower Court's grant of summary judgment is allowed to stand, answers to these guestions will never be discovered. Answers which Respondent is entitled to seek but was denied.

#### CONCLUSION

We agree that a defending party may move for summary judgment upon the issues raised in the pleadings without first answering the complaint. However, a defendant cannot move for summary judgment upon an affirmative defense or any other issue for that matter, that is not raised in the pleadings. There is absolutely no conflict among the District Courts concerning this issue: "It was error to enter judgment based upon 'release' when that affirmative defense has never been asserted in a pleading." The Petition should be denied with costs and attorney's fees cast against Petitioners.